November 9, 2021 - September 30, 2023

Unit 11 -

Teaching Associates Graduate Assistants Instructional Student

UAW

United Auto Workers

Collective Bargaining Agreement

between the

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY

and the

UNITED AUTO WORKERS



United Auto Workers 4123 1228 "N" Street, Ste. 34 Sacramento, California 95814



The California State University Office of the Chancellor 401 Golden Shore Long Beach, CA 90802-4210

THE 23 OUTSTANDING CAMPUSES OF THE CSU



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1	RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 2	APPOINTMENTS, POSTING AND NOTIFICATION	2
	POSTING OF APPOINTMENT OPPORTUNITIES	2
	APPOINTMENT NOTIFICATION	3
	CONDITIONS OF APPOINTMENT	4
ARTICLE 3	BENEFITS	6
	HEALTH BENEFITS	6
	DENTAL PLANS	7
	VISION CARE	7
	FLEX CASH PROGRAM	7
	HEALTH CARE REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT	7
	CHILDCARE AND DEPENDENT CARE REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT	8
	RETIREMENT BENEFITS	8
	HEALTHCARE VESTING FOR NEW EMPLOYEES	8
	PART-TIME, SEASONAL AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT PLAN	8
	TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT	9
	Parking	9
	LIFE INSURANCE	9
	Industrial Disability Leave	9
	NON-INDUSTRIAL DISABILITY INSURANCE	9
	403(b) Plan	10
ARTICLE 4	CLASSIFICATIONS	11
ARTICLE 5	CONCERTED ACTIVITIES	12
ARTICLE 6	DISCIPLINE	13
	WRITTEN NOTICE OF INTENT	14
	RESPONSE TO WRITTEN NOTICE OF INTENT	14
	WRITTEN NOTICE OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION	14
	Investigatory Leave	14
ARTICLE 7	EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	16
ARTICLE 8	EMPLOYMENT EVALUATION	18
ARTICLE 9	FEE WAIVER	20
ARTICLE 10	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	21
	DEFINITIONS	21
	TIME LIMITS	21
	INFORMAL PROCEDURE	22
	FORMAL PROCEDURE STEP 1 – PRESIDENT OR DESIGNEE	22
	GRIEVANCE FORM	23
	GRIL VILLED I ORM	23

	FORMAL PROCEDURE STEP 2 – OFFICE OF THE CHANCELLOR	23
	FORMAL PROCEDURE STEP 3 - ARBITRATION	24
	GENERAL PROVISIONS	26
	RELEASE TIME	27
ARTICLE 11	HEALTH AND SAFETY	28
ARTICLE 12	HOLIDAYS	29
	WORK REQUIREMENTS AND COMPENSATION DURING HOLIDAYS	29
	PERSONAL HOLIDAY	30
ARTICLE 13	INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS, SERVICES AND SUPPORT	31
ARTICLE 14	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	32
	FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE	32
	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	32
	MILITARY LEAVE	33
	JURY DUTY	33
	ILLNESS OR INJURY	33
	Leave Request Procedure	34
	CATASTROPHIC LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM	34
ARTICLE 15	MANAGEMENT AND ACADEMIC RIGHTS	36
ARTICLE 16	NON-DISCRIMINATION	37
	WHISTLEBLOWING	37
ARTICLE 17	PERSONNEL FILES	38
ARTICLE 18	SALARY	40
	GENERAL SALARY INCREASE	40
	DIRECT DEPOSIT	41
ARTICLE 19	SEVERABILITY	42
ARTICLE 20	SICK LEAVE	43
	ACCRUAL OF SICK LEAVE	43
	ABSENCES CHARGEABLE TO SICK LEAVE	43
	PROCEDURE FOR REQUESTING SICK LEAVE	44
	CHARGING SICK LEAVE	44
ARTICLE 21	SUMMER EMPLOYMENT FOR TAS	45
ARTICLE 22	TRAINING	47
ARTICLE 23	UNION ACCESS AND RIGHTS	48
	ACCESS VIA CAMPUS COMMUNICATIONS	48
	UNION ACCESS AND ACTIVITIES ON CAMPUS	48
	USE OF CSU PROPERTY/SERVICES	48
	UNION RELEASE TIME	49

	EMPLOYEE LISTS	51
	University Representatives	52
	REIMBURSEMENT OF COSTS	52
	PUBLICATION OF THE AGREEMENT	53
	Union Orientation	53
	Union Membership Election Form	53
ARTICLE 24	UNION SECURITY	54
	Union Dues, Assessments, Initiation Fees	54
	REMEDIAL DEDUCTIONS	54
	VCAP CHECK-OFF	55
ARTICLE 25	VACATION	56
ARTICLE 26	WORKLOAD	57
	Hours of Work	58
	OVERTIME	58
ARTICLE 27	DURATION	59
APPENDIX A	RECOGNITION AND CERTIFICATION	61
APPENDIX B	CSU/UAW CONTRACT GRIEVANCE FORM	65
APPENDIX C	SALARY SCHEDULE	66
APPENDIX D	GRADUATE ASSISTANT SIDE LETTER	67
APPENDIX E	DESCRIPTION OF DUTIES FORM	70
SIDE MOUS		71

RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The Trustees of The California State University (CSU) recognize the International Union, United Automobile, Aerospace and Agricultural Implement Workers of America (UAW), AFL-CIO and its Local Union 4123 as the sole and exclusive representative of the bargaining unit (Unit 11) in accordance with the certification by the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) in petition number LA-RR-1099-H and in accordance with the parties' August 18, 2004 recognition agreement and other applicable Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) as set forth in the Appendices.
- 1.2 The classifications included in this unit are:
 Teaching Associates (2309, 2324, 2353, 2354, and 2453), Graduate Assistants (2355, 2325 and 2326) and Instructional Student Assistants (1150, 1151, 1152 and 1153).
- 1.3 The recognized unit may be modified by agreement of the parties pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Public Employment Relations Board.

APPOINTMENTS, POSTING AND NOTIFICATION

Posting of Appointment Opportunities

- 2.1 The University shall create and maintain a central website on each campus and shall post information on it regarding open hire bargaining unit employee positions when these positions become available. Open hire positions are those positions available for currently enrolled or admitted students that are not used to fulfill a commitment of support made to a student (a) at the time of admission or (b) under an existing advising relationship with a faculty member(s). The University may update or edit this information as appropriate.
- By April 1st of each year, the University shall post a summary of bargaining unit positions by department or hiring unit and classification that were filled in that academic year. The University shall notify the Union of the link to the summary of bargaining unit positions.
- 2.3 All postings shall contain the following information:
 - 1. An employment non-discrimination statement.
 - 2. A general description of the duties performed by each of the classifications covered by the agreement.
 - 3. The "minimum qualifications" by classification as established by and at the sole discretion of the University.
 - 4. A statement indicating that exceptions to the minimum eligibility qualifications may be granted at the sole discretion of the University.
 - 5. Application procedures or hiring unit contact person for bargaining unit positions.
 - 6. Hiring criteria for each classification.
 - 7. Percentage or hours of appointment, when known.
 - 8. Deadlines for application and procedures for notification.

- 2.4 The determination of the above information shall be made by the University. Once the University has determined the hiring criteria, they shall not be modified to be more restrictive within the same hiring period.
- 2.5 Departments or other hiring units may also post information regarding open hire positions. Departments or other hiring units may, when necessary, make emergency appointments. For the purpose of this Article an emergency situation is one in which the beginning of the appointment period must begin less than a week after the position is posted.

Appointment Notification

- The CSU may make appointments at any time and for any duration. Appointments of Teaching Associates and Graduate Assistants may be made at any time-base. Appointments of Instructional Student Assistants may be made for range of hours over a term(s). Substitute Teaching Associate assignments shall be made for a range of hours, and shall be compensated at the employee's existing hourly rate. Substitute Teaching Associate appointments shall be made from qualified Unit 11 employees who have notified the Department Chair that they are available for appointment as a Substitute Teaching Associate during the period of their primary appointment.
- As soon as a hiring decision has been made, and prior to the scheduled start of the appointment, the University shall provide written notice of the appointment or reappointment in paper or electronic format to the affected individual. When possible, the University will endeavor to provide fourteen days' advance notice of the individual's appointment, but the parties recognize that this provision should not delay the start of an appointment.
- The notice will include, but not be limited to: the applicable appointment title, appointment time-base percentage (or range of hours), effective dates, salary/wages, health and other applicable benefits and deductions, and tuition and fee waiver or exemption information, department or equivalent unit, department or equivalent unit contact information, response requirements if any, a statement that the position is covered by the collective bargaining agreement between the parties, the collective bargaining agreement's website address, a website address with UAW 4123 contact information and a systemwide website that provides information regarding the requirement and nature of the California Loyalty Oath.

[Note: This website shall include FAQs and a statement that swearing to uphold the California Constitution does not require the employee to engage in violence.]

- 2.9 Prior to the commencement of the term or as soon as practicable thereafter, the University shall provide the ASE the following information:
 - a. the faculty member or supervisor to whom the individual will report,
 - b. the location where the work will be performed,
 - c. the class assigned, if applicable,
 - d. the time and place of any applicable orientations,
 - e. the specific duties and expectations of the appointment as detailed in the form in Appendix F or a campus-based form that contains at least the same information. The University may include estimated time for effective completion of each duty.

The University shall provide advance notice when the above referenced duties are changed significantly. Such changes will be confirmed in writing.

2.10 No employee shall be deemed appointed in the absence of an official written notification from the President and the bargaining unit employee's acceptance within the timelines established by the notification. The bargaining unit employee shall have fourteen (14) days from date of written notification to accept the appointment.

Conditions of Appointment

- The duration, terms and conditions of an employee's appointment will be specified in the appointment notification. The appointment notification shall state that the appointment automatically expires at the end of the period stated and does not establish an obligation for a subsequent appointment. No other notice shall be provided.
- Appointments may be provided for any duration, including multiple academic terms (semesters, quarters). The University will guarantee employment during the first term of appointment. If an appointment is for more than one academic term, employment in academic terms after the first term of the appointment may be conditioned upon budget or enrollment. If an individual receives and accepts a non-conditional appointment, and the position offered and accepted is no longer available, the CSU will ensure that the employee:
 - a. is placed in an appointment at the same level of compensation for the academic term(s) stated in the appointment notification, or

- b. receives the same compensation in lieu of the position for the academic term(s) stated in the appointment notification.
- An employee may be reassigned by the CSU due to the operational needs of the CSU upon written notice. The CSU shall determine its operational needs, including the quality of its instructional and research activities. Any reassignment must be to another position with the same compensation.
- As a condition of employment, all employees must remain academically eligible. In the event the employee becomes academically ineligible, the employee may be removed without pay from or returned to said appointment as set forth below.
 - a. Within the first five (5) weeks of an academic term, the University may, at its sole discretion, remove an employee who has become academically ineligible.
 - b. If a bargaining unit employee regains academic eligibility, the University shall determine in its sole discretion whether or not to reinstate the bargaining unit employee. Reinstatement, if any, shall be at the level of employment held prior to removal.
- 2.15 If a student is otherwise eligible for employment as an academic student employee, the University shall not limit the opportunity to apply for a vacant position based on (a) the number of academic units in which the employee is enrolled, or (b) the number of terms of prior employment as an academic student employee, except as necessary to comply with state or federal regulations and/or accreditation requirements.

BENEFITS

Health Benefits

- The term "eligible Teaching Associate employee(s)" as used in this Article shall mean a Teaching Associate employee who is appointed half-time or more for more than six (6) months. Those employees excluded from health, dental, vision, and life insurance benefits include Graduate Assistants and Instructional Student Assistants.
- 3.2 Eligible Teaching Associate employees and eligible family members as defined by CalPERS shall receive health benefits offered through the CalPERS system for the life of this Agreement. Payment for these benefits shall be based on rates established by CalPERS for participating members. The CSU shall contribute the amount required for such payments by Government Code Section 22871. This provision shall be applicable to all Teaching Associate employees whose eligibility for CalPERS health benefits derives from their employment in the UAW unit. Those excluded from health benefits include Graduate Assistants, and Instructional Student Assistants.
- The term "eligible family member" as used in this Article shall mean the eligible Teaching Associate employee's legal spouse, registered domestic partner (through the Secretary of State registration process), and children from birth to the end of the month in which the dependent children reach age twenty (26). An adopted child, stepchild, natural child recognized by the parent, or a child living with the employee in a parent-child relationship who is economically dependent upon the employee is also eligible. A family member who is a disabled child prior to and over age twenty-six (26) may also be enrolled if, at the time of initial enrollment of the employee, satisfactory evidence of such disability is presented to the carrier consistent with the carrier's requirements. Upon attaining age twenty six (26), a disabled child who is already enrolled may be continued in enrollment if satisfactory evidence of that disability is filed with the carrier in accordance with the carrier's criteria.
- All Teaching Associate employees who contribute toward health benefits pursuant to provision 3.2 shall be entitled to participate in the CSU Health Premium Conversion Program (TAPP). The terms of this program shall be determined by the CSU. All administrative costs for participation shall be paid by participating employees.

Dental Plans

3.5 CSU dental benefits shall be offered to eligible Teaching Associate employees and eligible family members as defined in 3.1 and 3.3 for the life of this Agreement, fully paid by the CSU. The level of benefits shall equal the following plans in existence on June 24, 2005: the CSU basic Prepaid Dental Plan and the CSU Enhanced Level I Indemnity Dental Plan.

Vision Care

3.6 Eligible Teaching Associate employees and eligible family members as defined in this 3.1 and 3.3 shall be entitled to receive vision care benefits as provided in the program presently offered by CSU and the CSU's contribution shall equal one hundred (100) percent of the basic monthly premium for the life of this Agreement.

Flex Cash Program

- 3.7 Teaching Associate employees eligible for either health or dental insurance pursuant to this Agreement shall be entitled to waive health and/or dental insurance in exchange for the following monthly payments:
 - a. Waive medical & dental \$140 per month
 - b. Waive medical only \$128 per month
 - c. Waive dental only \$12 per month

In order to participate, each eligible Teaching Associate employee will be required to request participation and certify that he/she has alternative non-CSU insurance for the CSU insurance being waived.

Health Care Reimbursement Account

3.8 All eligible Teaching Associate employees shall be entitled to participate in the CSU Health Care Reimbursement Account (HCRA) Plan. The terms of this plan shall be determined by the CSU and in accordance with Internal Revenue Service regulations. All administrative costs for participation shall be paid by participating employees.

Childcare and Dependent Care Reimbursement Account

- 3.9 The CSU and the Union acknowledge that pursuant to the rules of the relevant Auxiliary Organizations on each campus, childcare services are available to employees due to their student status.
- 3.10 All eligible Teaching Associate employees shall be entitled to participate in the CSU Dependent Care Reimbursement Account (DCRA) plan. The terms of this plan shall be determined by the CSU and in accordance with Internal Revenue Service regulations. All administrative costs for participation shall be paid by participating employees and shall be the same as for all other employees.

Retirement Benefits

3.11 Teaching Associate employees' eligibility for membership in the CalPERS retirement system shall be determined pursuant to the California Public Employees' Retirement Law.

Graduate Assistants and Instructional Student Assistants are not eligible for membership in CalPERS.

Healthcare Vesting for New Employees

Teaching Associates hired on or after July 1, 2019 and become members of CalPERS on or after July 1, 2019 shall receive the full portion of the CSU contribution payable for health benefits upon retirement at age 52 with at least 10 years of service credit (Government Code Section 22874.8). In addition, Teaching Associates meeting these requirements shall be eligible for the full portion of the CSU contribution payable for basic dental plan (Government Code Section 22958.5).

Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees Retirement Plan

3.13 All bargaining unit members are exempt from Social Security and Medicare taxes, provided the student meets the student FICA exemption addressed in Federal law.

Employees who work during the academic breaks who do not qualify for the student FICA exemption are enrolled in the California Department of Human Resources' Parttime, Seasonal, Temporary (PST) retirement plan in lieu of Social Security. The total cost of this CalHR plan shall be paid by participating student employees in the form of

a seven and one-half percent (7.5%) pre-tax reduction from a participating student employee's covered wages each pay period. There shall be no cost to the CSU.

Travel Reimbursement

Employee expenses incurred as a result of travel on official CSU business shall be reimbursed in accordance with CSU travel regulations.

Parking

- An employee wishing to park at any CSU facility shall be eligible for the same category of parking permit that was available to that classification of employee as of January 1, 2004. Every employee shall pay the parking fee in accordance with CSU campus policy. The CSU shall provide payroll deductions for this purpose in accordance with CSU campus policy.
- 3.16 Eligible bargaining unit employees shall be entitled to participate in the CSU Pre-tax Parking Fee Deduction Plan under the same terms and conditions as eligible non-student employees.

Life Insurance

3.17 The CSU shall provide Teaching Associate employees as defined in 3.1 with a life insurance program at no cost to the employee. This plan shall provide basic life insurance coverage during the term of employment in the amount of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000).

Industrial Disability Leave

Teaching Associate employees may participate in the CSU Industrial Disability Leave (IDL) program in accordance with the terms set forth by the CSU.

Non-Industrial Disability Insurance

Teaching Associate employees may participate in the CSU Non-Industrial Disability Insurance (NDI) program in accordance with the terms set forth by the CSU.

403(b) Plan



CLASSIFICATIONS

- 4.1 The CSU shall notify the Union sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of: (a) new classifications related to bargaining unit classifications or (b) revised bargaining unit classifications.
- 4.2 Prior to the effective date of a new classification, the Union may request a meeting with the CSU to discuss whether the new classification is appropriate for the bargaining unit. Such a meeting shall be held. The parties may mutually agree in writing to modify the unit to include the new classification. If the parties disagree as to the inclusion of a new classification in the bargaining unit, either party may seek a unit modification petition pursuant to the procedures established by PERB.
- 4.3 Prior to the effective date of a revised classification or inclusion of a new classification in the bargaining unit, the Union may request to meet and confer regarding the impact of the revised classification or a new classification on bargaining unit members.
- 4.4 All classification and qualification standards of bargaining unit employees will remain in effect until such time as notice as described above has been provided to the Union.

CONCERTED ACTIVITIES

- 5.1 During the life of this Agreement, unit employees shall not engage in strikes of any kind or other concerted activity of any kind which would interfere with or adversely affect the operations or the mission of the CSU.
- 5.2 The UAW shall not promote, organize, or support any strike of any kind or other concerted activity of any kind.
- 5.3 The UAW shall endeavor to prevent unit employees from participating in a concerted activity which would interfere with or adversely affect the operations or the mission of the CSU.
- 5.4 The CSU shall not lock out unit employees.

DISCIPLINE

- 6.1 The CSU may discipline an employee for just cause.
- a. "Discipline" is defined as:
 - 1. a written reprimand
 - 2. suspension without pay for a maximum of 21 calendar days or
 - 3. a dismissal/discharge
 - b. All written reprimands pursuant to 6(2)(i) shall be clearly identified in the document as a "letter of reprimand". Upon the employee's request and after 12 months from the effective date, a reprimand in the personnel file shall be permanently removed. This provision shall not be implemented under the following conditions:
 - 1. a written notice of intent pursuant to 6.4 of this Article has been served on an employee and such a reprimand is related to the pending disciplinary action; or
 - 2. a subsequent written reprimand(s) of a similar nature has been placed in the Personnel File within the 12 month period. If, after 12 months of the effective date of the subsequent reprimand, then the employee may also request the removal of the prior written reprimand(s) of a similar nature.
- 6.3 "Discipline" does not include any other personnel action, including, but not limited to:
 - a. an oral or verbal counseling or warning; however, an oral warning may be challenged in a grievance only after it is subsequently used for evidence or to justify the extent of the penalty in a disciplinary matter;
 - b. the expiration of an appointment or the failure to make a reappointment;
 - c. a reassignment for operational needs;
 - d. a removal due to academic ineligibility;
 - e. a performance evaluation;
 - f. investigatory leave;

g. rescission of an appointment due to failure of a condition.

Written Notice of Intent

- 6.4 In the event that dismissal/discharge of an employee is contemplated, the University shall provide the employee with a written notice of intent. A copy of the written notice shall be sent to the Union. The written notice shall:
 - a. inform the employee of the dismissal/discharge action proposed, the reason for the proposed action including applicable documentation and the effective date(s) of the action;
 - b. inform the employee of the right to respond and to whom to respond within the applicable time limit in accordance with provision 6.6 below; and,
 - c. inform the employee of the right to representation by another employee or the Union.

Response to Written Notice of Intent

The employee or her/his representative shall have the right to respond in writing within seven (7) calendar days from the issuance of the written Notice of Intent. If the Notice is mailed to the employee, the employee may respond within twelve (12) calendar days from the date of issuance.

Written Notice of Disciplinary Action

After review of a timely response, if any, the University shall notify the employee and the employee's designated representative of any disciplinary action to be taken and its effective date, as well as the rights set out under Article 10, Grievance Procedure. The University may reduce such discipline without the issuance of a further Written Notice of Intent. A copy of the Notice shall be sent to the Union.

Investigatory Leave

6.7 The University may place an employee on Investigatory Leave with full pay without prior notice, in order to review or investigate allegations of misconduct or dereliction of duty which, in the judgment of the University, warrant immediately relieving the employee from all work duties and/or require removing the employee from the premises. Investigatory leave shall not be considered a form of disciplinary action.

The University will immediately provide the employee and her/his representative with written confirmation of the Investigatory Leave. The University may place an employee on investigatory leave at any time prior to, at the time of, or following a Notice of Intent. An employee on investigatory leave shall not receive pay in excess of what the employee would have earned had the employee not been placed on investigatory leave.

EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- 7.1 Both parties had the opportunity during negotiations to make proposals with respect to any subject matter not prohibited by law from bargaining. To that end the parties' agree that this Agreement only covers matters that relate to the employment status of bargaining unit members and does not abridge, modify, or alter any terms or conditions related to bargaining unit members' status as a student. This Agreement sets forth the full and entire understanding of the parties regarding the matters contained herein. Any other prior or existing understanding or agreement by the parties which is contrary to this agreement, whether formal or informal, regarding any such matters is hereby superseded by this Agreement. It is agreed and understood that each party to this Agreement voluntarily waives its right to negotiate with respect to any matter covered in this Agreement.
- Any practices, policies, rules, regulations, or conditions of employment affecting any matter within the scope of bargaining under HEERA which have not been covered by this Agreement shall remain in effect until the parties' obligations described in provision 7.3 below are met.
- 7.3 With respect to the matters covered in provision 7.2 above, the parties recognize that during the term of this Agreement the University may deem it necessary to make changes in areas within the scope of bargaining. Where the University decides to make such changes the University shall notify the Union of proposed changes thirty (30) calendar days prior to their proposed implementation.
- 7.4 The duty to negotiate changes made by the University in provision 7.3 is limited to bargaining regarding the impact of such changes on bargaining unit employees, but only when both of the following exist:
 - a. Where the subject matter of the change is within the scope of representation pursuant to HEERA; and
 - b. Where the Union makes a request to negotiate with the University within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of the receipt by the Union of the University's notice as described in provision 7.3.
- 7.5 An agreement resulting from negotiations in provision 7.4 above shall be executed in writing.

- 7.6 If the parties do not reach agreement in the negotiations, the impasse procedures pursuant to HEERA shall apply.
- 7.7 If the parties disagree as to whether a proposed change is subject to provision 7.3 above, such disagreement shall be subject to the Grievance and Arbitration Article of this agreement.

EMPLOYMENT EVALUATION

- 8.1 "Employment Evaluation" is a faculty member's or supervisor's written assessment of a bargaining unit employees' employment performance.
- 8.2 If an employment evaluation is to take place, the employing department or hiring unit shall communicate, in writing, evaluation criteria, schedule and procedures for written employment evaluations, to employees or upon request to the Union within the first fourteen (14) days of the appointment period.
- 8.3 There shall be no changes in criteria and procedures used to evaluate the bargaining unit employee during the appointment period, unless there is a change in the assignment of the bargaining unit employee in which case notice of new criteria, schedule and procedures for written employment evaluations shall be provided in accordance with provision 8.2, above.
- An ASE shall be given a draft evaluation at least five (5) days prior to placement in the personnel file. Upon request, an ASE shall be provided the opportunity to meet with an appropriate administrator to discuss the draft evaluation. The request to meet, if any, shall be made within five (5) days of receipt of the draft evaluation. If a meeting is requested, it shall take place within ten (10) days of the request by the ASE. Following the meeting, the administrator shall consider all information provided by the ASE concerning the relevancy and accuracy of the employment evaluation prior to making a final decision to place the final evaluation in the file. An ASE shall be given a copy of the final evaluation within five (5) days after placement in the personnel file.
- 8.5 If a bargaining unit employee disagrees with the content of the final evaluation, within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the evaluation, the bargaining unit employee may submit a rebuttal statement that the University shall attach to the employment evaluation.
- 8.6 The content of an employment evaluation of a bargaining unit employee shall not be subject to the grievance procedure, but the procedural requirements of the provisions of this article shall be subject to the grievance procedure.
- 8.7 If the bargaining unit employee is alleging that the content of an evaluation constitutes a violation of Article 16, Non-Discrimination, then the bargaining unit employee may contest the content of the evaluation subject to the requirements of Article 16, Non-

Discrimination. If the bargaining unit employee is alleging that the content of an evaluation constitutes a violation of Article 10, Grievance Procedure, then the bargaining unit employee may contest the content of the evaluation subject to the requirements of Article 10, Grievance Procedure.

FEE WAIVER

9.1 Pursuant to Executive Order 611, campus Presidents or their designees may waive the State University Fee for individual students who are enrolled in a California State University graduate program as classified or conditionally classified graduate students and who are employed by the California State University as Graduate Assistants (Class Code 2355) or Teaching Associates (Class Code 2353 or 2354). This Executive Order shall not be subject to Article 10 (Grievance Procedure).

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

This grievance procedure shall be the sole and exclusive method of resolving disputes regarding allegations by employees and/or the Union that the CSU has violated this Agreement. Nothing herein precludes employees and/or the Union from pursuing allegations the CSU has violated constitutional, statutory or regulatory obligations in the appropriate forum as provided by law.

Definitions

- Grievance an allegation by a grievant that there has been a violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of a specific term of this Agreement.
- 10.3 Grievant The term "grievant" as used in this Agreement refers to:
 - a. an individual employee who alleges that he/she has been directly wronged by a violation of a specific term of this Agreement; or
 - b. a group of employees that alleges that it has been directly wronged by a violation of a specific term of this Agreement; or
 - c. the Union when it alleges that an individual employee, a group of employees, or the Union has been directly wronged by a violation of a specific term of this Agreement.
- Designated representative an individual designated by a party to represent it at a step in the grievance procedure.
- 10.5 File delivery to the designated representative at the address designated by such representative via U.S. Mail, personal service, facsimile, or, by email. The union and the CSU shall endeavor to use email whenever practicable.

Time Limits

10.6 A grievance must be filed in writing within 21 calendar days of the date on which the grievant(s) knew or could reasonably have been expected to know of the occurrence upon which the grievance is based.

- Formal grievance meetings shall occur within 14 calendar days of the date of the request to meet.
- 10.8 Written responses shall be filed within 14 calendar days of the completion of the grievance meeting at each step of the grievance procedure. Written responses shall be filed with the grievant and the Union.
- Written appeals of a grievance response shall be filed within 14 calendar days of the filing of a grievance response. The parties agree that grievances, responses and appeals are considered filed on the date that they are received by a party via fax, email, hand deliver, or U.S. Mail.

Informal Procedure

- 10.10 Informal Step 1 –The grievant(s) may meet and attempt to settle the grievance with their immediate supervisor (or with an individual designated by the University in the case of a Union grievance).
- Informal Step 2 If the grievance remains unresolved following Informal Step 1, the grievant(s) shall attempt to resolve a grievance in an Informal Step 2 meeting with an individual designated by the campus. If the designated individual is the subject of the grievance, the grievant(s) shall have the option of requesting the campus to designate another individual, who is not the subject of the grievance, to conduct the Informal Step 2 meeting. If the campus designates another individual who is not the subject of the grievance, the grievant(s) shall participate in the Informal Step 2 meeting. If the campus declines to designate another individual, the grievant(s) may pursue the grievance at Formal Step 1. Informal Step 2 meetings shall occur within 7 calendar days of the date of the request to meet.
- The informal resolution of a grievance shall not set a precedent and must be consistent with the terms of this agreement.

Formal Procedure Step 1 – President or Designee

10.13 A formal written grievance shall be filed with the President or his/her designated representative within 21 calendar days of the date on which the grievant(s) knew or could reasonably have been expected to know of the occurrence upon which the grievance is based. The grievant or her/his representative shall request a meeting to be held between the grievant(s) and the President or the President's designated

representative(s) to attempt to resolve the grievance within 14 calendar days of filing the grievance. The resolution of a grievance at Step 1 shall not set a precedent and must be consistent with the terms of this agreement.

Grievance Form

- All filings of written grievances at each Formal Step shall be on the form contained in Appendix B. The grievance form shall be signed by at least one grievant at the time of its initial filing at Formal Step 1. The original signatures of all grievants must be provided to the CSU prior to the Formal Step 2 meeting. If a grievant's signature is not so provided to the CSU, that grievant's claim shall be deemed null and void. The grievant shall state on the grievance form agreed to by the parties all of the following information:
 - a. The specific term(s) of the Agreement alleged to have been violated;
 - b. A detailed description of the grounds of the grievance including names, dates, places, and times;
 - c. A proposed remedy;
 - d. The grievant's name(s), classification(s), campus, department(s), mailing address(es), and original signature of at least one grievant;
 - e. The name and telephone number of the representative, if any;
 - f. The name and address of the Union, if the representative is acting as an agent of the Union;
 - g. In the case of a Union grievance on behalf of employee(s): (1) the name(s) of the employee(s) or (2) a specific description of the group of employees, alleged to have been directly wronged by the alleged violation; and
 - h. Date of submission of the grievance.

Formal Procedure Step 2 – Office of the Chancellor

10.15 If the grievance remains unresolved following Formal Step 1, the grievance may be filed at Step 2 with the designated individual in the Office of the Chancellor within 14 calendar days of the filing of a grievance response at Formal Step 1. The Union shall request a meeting be held between the Union representative and the designated individual in the Office of the Chancellor to attempt to resolve the grievance within 14 calendar days of filing the grievance appeal. The resolution of a grievance at Step 2 shall not set a precedent and must be consistent with the terms of this agreement.

Amendments and/or modifications to a grievance or to a grievance response, including new claims, issues, alleged contract violations and/or the raising of an arbitrability defense, shall not be made by the grievant or the CSU after the Formal Step 2 response, and therefore shall not be considered in arbitration, except for good cause.

Formal Procedure Step 3 - Arbitration

- 10.17 If the grievance remains unresolved following Formal Step 2, the grievance may be filed at Step 3 with the designated individual in the Office of the Chancellor within 42 calendar days of the filing of a grievance response at Formal Step 2. An appeal to arbitration may only be made by the Union.
- 10.18 The following arbitrator panels shall serve in rotation order unless agreed otherwise: Panels to be agreed by parties
- 10.19 Unless the specific language of the Agreement is in conflict, the arbitration procedure shall be conducted in accordance with the Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association (AAA).
- Grievances with continuing financial back pay liability, and grievances alleging an unsafe work environment, shall be scheduled for hearing in arbitration in the chronological order of their appeal to arbitration, prior to both the scheduling of any grievances with no continuing financial back pay liability, or any grievance which does not allege an unsafe work environment. The parties recognize that from time to time it may be in the interest of both parties by mutual agreement to schedule cases for arbitration in other than chronological order. Absent such mutual agreement, arbitration hearings shall be scheduled in the same chronological order in which each case was appealed to arbitration.
- The Union shall request that a grievance be scheduled for hearing in arbitration. Any grievance filed into arbitration shall be considered withdrawn if the parties have not, within twelve (12) months of the date of filing to arbitration, agreed upon a date and scheduled the case for hearing with the arbitrator assigned to the case. This provision shall be extended for an additional thirty (30) days at a time, in cases where the Union has agreed to dates proposed by an arbitrator which are unacceptable to the CSU, or in cases where the CSU has not responded to the dates proposed by the Union.
- No later than ten (10) days prior to the date of an arbitration hearing the parties shall attempt to confirm any issue(s) to be raised, exchange proposed issue statements, formulate a joint statement of issue, exchange the names of all anticipated witnesses,

and provide (and identify as exhibits) copies of all documents anticipated to be entered into evidence. The failure to exchange the aforementioned information on proposed issues, witnesses and documents prior to the arbitration hearing shall not preclude their consideration by the arbitrator.

- The arbitrator's award shall be based solely upon the evidence and arguments appropriately presented by the parties in the hearing and upon any post-hearing briefs.
- The arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, modify, or amend the provisions of this Agreement.
- 10.25 A final decision or award of the arbitrator shall be made within thirty (30) calendar days after the close of the hearing. Such decision or award shall be binding upon the Union, the CSU, and the employee(s) affected thereby.
- The cost of the arbitration, excluding unilateral withdrawal, unilateral postponement, or unilateral cancellation fees, shall be borne equally by the parties. Expenses for witnesses shall be borne by the party who calls them. Each party shall bear the cost of its advocate.
- 10.27 Arbitration hearings shall be held at the campus for grievances filed at a CSU campus, and arbitration hearings shall be held on an alternating basis between the Office of the Chancellor and the Pico Rivera Union office for grievances agreed upon by the parties to be systemwide issues. The parties may mutually agree to schedule such cases at other locations.
- The standard of review for the arbitrator is whether the CSU violated, misapplied, or misinterpreted a specific term(s) of this Agreement.
- 10.29 If an arbitrability question exists, the arbitrator shall determine the arbitrability question prior to hearing the formal presentations of the parties on the merits of the grievance.
- An arbitrator's award may or may not be retroactive as the equities of each case may demand, but in no case shall an award be retroactive to a date earlier than thirty (30) days prior to the date the grievance was initially filed in accordance with this Article or the date on which the act or omission occurred.

General Provisions

10.31 Upon the request of the Union or the CSU, the other party shall supply a current list of its designated representatives for handling grievances at a campus or by the Office of the Chancellor. 10.32 The University shall not retaliate against an individual for membership or nonmembership in the Union or for engaging in protected Union activities, or for participation in a grievance or complaint, whether formal or informal, or for the exercise of rights guaranteed by this Agreement. 10.33 Failure to file a grievance within the time limits at any step of the grievance procedure shall render the grievance null and void and no new grievance may be filed or processed on the matters grieved. 10.34 If the Union refuses to agree to schedule or attend a required meeting at any step of the grievance procedure, then the Union may not advance the grievance to the next level. 10.35 If the University refuses to agree to schedule or attend a required meeting at any step of the grievance procedure, then the Union may advance the grievance to the next level. 10.36 The failure to file a response to, or meet about, a grievance at any step of the grievance procedure within the specified time limit shall permit the grievant to appeal the grievance to the next step of the procedure within 14 calendar days of when the response was due. 10.37 The parties, by mutual written agreement, may agree to extend any time limit or waive any meeting, response or requirement of the grievance procedure. 10.38 The settlement of a grievance shall not set a precedent unless the parties expressly provide in that settlement that they have agreed to do so. 10.39 Offers of settlement are inadmissible at any step of the grievance or arbitration procedures.

grievances.

10.40

The parties, by mutual written agreement, may agree to consolidate two or more

Grievants have the right to Union representation at all stages of the grievance and arbitration procedure subject to the provisions of this paragraph. The Union shall have the exclusive right to represent any employee in grievances under this Agreement provided, however, that at Informal and Formal Steps 1 and 2, employees may represent themselves or be represented by another employee of their choice pursuant to HEERA section 3567. If an employee elects not to be represented by the Union, the University shall inform the Union in writing (via email, facsimile or personal service) of a written Formal Step 1 grievance within 7 days of the filing. No resolution of any individually processed grievance shall be inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. The University will not agree to a resolution of the grievance until the Union has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and has been given the opportunity to file a response.

Release Time

- 10.42 If it is necessary that grievance meetings take place during work time, the University shall provide release time to a Union representative and grievant(s) to participate fully in all aspects of the grievance process, including representation, preparation and presentation, as follows:
 - a. Prior to filing a grievance, the potential grievant and representative, if any, shall each be provided with one (1) hour release time for grievance preparation and reasonable time for grievance presentation at the informal level.
 - b. After the grievance has been filed, a representative and the grievant shall be provided reasonable release time for the purpose of preparation and presentation of the grievance.
- 10.43 Representatives and potential grievants shall contact the appropriate administrator in writing, if release time is requested under this provision. The appropriate administrator shall grant the contractually specified release time after considering the needs of the operation of the University. Requests for release time shall include: (1) the time and location of the meeting; and (2) the anticipated duration of the meeting.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

11.1	The CSU shall make reasonable efforts to maintain conditions conducive to the health and safety of bargaining unit employees.

HOLIDAYS

- The following holidays, except as provided in provision 12.2 below, shall be observed on the day specified.
 - a. January 1
 - b. Third Monday in January (Martin Luther King Jr. Day)
 - c. March 31 (Cesar Chavez Day)
 - d. July 4
 - e. First Monday in September (Labor Day)
 - f. Thanksgiving Day
 - g. December 25
 - h. Any other day designated by the Governor for a public fast or holiday.
- 12.2 The holidays listed in this provision shall be officially observed on the day specified unless they fall on a Saturday or Sunday, or are rescheduled by the President for observance on another day.
 - a. Third Monday in February (Washington's Birthday)
 - b. February 12 (Lincoln's Birthday)
 - c. Last Monday in May (Memorial Day)
 - d. Admission Day
 - e. Second Monday in October (Columbus Day)
 - f. November 11 (Veteran's Day)
- 12.3 Any holiday listed in this Article which falls on a Saturday shall be observed on the preceding Friday. Any holiday listed in this Article which falls on a Sunday shall be observed on the following Monday.

Work Requirements and Compensation During Holidays

12.4 Teaching Associates in an Academic Year classification and Graduate Assistants in an Academic Year classification shall not be required to work on the days holidays in

provisions 12.1 and 12.2 are officially observed or on academic holidays as designated in the campus academic calendar. Such employees shall receive their normal salary for these periods.

- Teaching Associates in a twelve (12) month classification and Graduate Assistants in a monthly classification shall not be required to work on the days holidays in provisions 12.1 and 12.2 are officially observed. Such employees shall receive their normal salary for these periods.
- An employee on a leave of absence without pay or in another non-pay status on a day a holiday is officially observed shall not be paid for the holiday.
- 12.7 If the first working day of a new bargaining unit employee is preceded by a holiday, the bargaining unit employee shall not be paid for the holiday.
- 12.8 Instructional Student Assistants do not have paid holidays. Instructional Student Assistants are paid for all hours authorized to work.
- Teaching Associates will receive pay for holidays that fall within the scheduled workweek. A TA who is authorized to work and works on the holiday that is officially observed by the University shall be compensated with pay at his/her straight time rate on an hour-by-hour basis for all hours worked on the holiday OR given equivalent time off.

Equivalent time off, equal to the hours worked on the holiday, may be taken in lieu of compensation with pay. This equivalent time off must be taken within ninety (90) days after the holiday was observed. If the TA is unable to take the equivalent time off based upon the Department's operational needs, he/she shall be paid at his/her straight time.

Personal Holiday

12.10 Employees in a Teaching Associate classification shall be entitled to a Personal Holiday that may be taken on one (1) day during the calendar year. If the bargaining unit employee fails to take the Personal Holiday before the end of the calendar year, the holiday shall be forfeited. The CSU and the Union shall endeavor to inform a Teaching Associate of his/her Personal Holiday. Scheduling of the Personal Holiday shall be by mutual agreement of the bargaining unit employee and the appropriate administrator.

INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS, SERVICES AND SUPPORT

- The University shall provide all bargaining unit employees, without charge, access to the workspace, texts, facilities, services and instructional support the President or designee deems required to perform work and work related tasks. Such support may include but not be limited to access to:
 - 1. Library, copy, bookstore and email privileges;
 - 2. Photocopies;
 - 3. Office supplies;
 - 4. Computer with internet access, free printing, and instruction-related software;
 - 5. Storage space;
 - 6. Office and desk space;
 - 7. Telephone with voicemail;
 - 8. Mailbox;
 - 9. Texts/reading materials;
 - 10. A break room if available.

LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Family Care and Medical Leave

- 14.1 A bargaining unit employee who has one (1) year of service is entitled to a family care and medical leave without pay in accordance with the University's Family Care and Medical Leave Policy. Bargaining unit employees must work 1250 hours in the 12 months preceding the leave in order to be eligible for Family Care and Medical Leave. For employees eligible for paid leave of absence, Family Care and Medical Leave includes both paid (pursuant to Article 20, Sick Leave) and unpaid time.
- Family care or medical leave is separate and distinct from the right of a female employee to take a pregnancy disability leave under Government Code Section 12945, subdivision (b)(2) for up to four (4) months, but not to exceed the end of the employee's appointment.

Bereavement Leave

- Upon request to the President, a bargaining unit employee shall be granted up to two (2) days leave of absence with pay for each death in the immediate family. Upon request to the President, the bargaining unit employee shall be granted three (3) consecutive days leave of absence with pay if the death in the immediate family requires that a bargaining unit employee travel over five hundred (500) miles from their home. A bargaining unit employee shall give notice of the need for bereavement leave as soon as possible. The employee may be required to provide written substantiation for the request, including the name and relationship of the deceased immediate family member, upon the employee's return to work. Bereavement Leave may only be taken on those days the employee was previously scheduled to work and must be taken at the time of the death or funeral.
- 14.4 A bereavement leave may be supplemented with available sick leave.
- 14.5 "Immediate Family" as used in this Article shall mean:
 - a. the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner;

- b. the employee's spouse's or registered domestic partner's father, mother, sister, brother, grandparent, great-grandparent, child (including foster, adopted and step child), grandchild;
- c. the employee's son-in-law, daughter-in-law
- d. a person who is living in the immediate household of the employee, except domestic employees, roomers, boarders, and/or roommates.

Military Leave

Emergency military leave, temporary military leave, and indefinite military leave shall be granted to eligible employees in accordance with state and federal law.

Jury Duty

- An employee who serves on jury duty shall receive their base salary and is permitted to keep any mileage payments made by the court. Employees are not entitled to juror pay for jury duty.
- An hourly employee shall be eligible for time off with pay for jury duty only for those hours he/she was scheduled to work.
- An employee who receives initial notification that he/she is subject to jury duty shall notify the appropriate administrator in writing prior to taking leave for jury duty. Verification of actual service for jury duty shall be provided by the employee.

Illness or Injury

14.10 A bargaining unit employee may be granted an unpaid leave of absence due to temporary incapacity due to illness or injury. An employee may be required to provide a physician's statement or other appropriate verification for such leaves of absence. The length of the leave of absence may not extend beyond the expiration date of the appointment.

Leave Request Procedure

- A written application for a leave of absence without pay or an extension of a leave of absence without pay shall be submitted to the appropriate administrator. The appropriate administrator shall determine if such a leave shall be granted and the conditions of such a leave. Requests for a leave of absence without pay related to the Academic Student Employee's legally required attendance at their legal proceedings shall not be unreasonably denied.
- An employee who is on a leave of absence without pay, excluding Family Care and Medical Leave, shall not return to active pay status prior to the expiration of such a leave without written approval of the appropriate administrator.
- 14.13 Any leave granted by the University under this Article assures to the employee a right to return to his/her former position or a position within his/her classification upon expiration of the leave, provided the employee returns prior to the employee's end of appointment date.

Catastrophic Leave Donation Program

- 14.14 Any bargaining unit employee who accrues vacation or sick leave credits may voluntarily donate either of those credits to or receive them from any other CSU employee on the same campus, if the recipient employee has exhausted all accrued leave credits, i.e., sick leave, vacation, and CTO, due to a catastrophic illness or injury. Catastrophic illness or injury is an illness or injury that has totally incapacitated the employee from work. The following provisions shall apply:
 - a. An employee, his/her representative or the employee's family member must request the employee's participation and provide appropriate verification of illness or injury as determined by the campus President. The President shall then determine the employee's eligibility to receive donations based upon the definition provided above.
 - b. An incapacitated employee may elect to defer a request to participate during a period of Industrial Disability Leave eligibility.
 - c. An employee may donate a maximum of sixteen (16) hours of leave credits per fiscal year in increments of one hour or more. Donations are irrevocable.
 - d. Donated leave credits may be used to supplement Industrial Disability Leave, Non-Industrial Disability Leave or Temporary Disability payments from the third party administrator upon the application for these benefit(s) by an eligible employee. The total amount of leave credits donated and used may not exceed

- an amount sufficient to ensure the continuance of the employee's regular monthly rate of compensation.
- e. The total donated leave credits shall normally not exceed an amount necessary to continue the employee for three calendar months calculated from the first day of catastrophic leave. The President may approve an additional three-month period in exceptional cases. The leave should not be deemed donated until actually transferred by the campus record keeper to the record of the employee receiving leave credits.
- f. For employees whose appointments have not been renewed, donated time may not be used beyond the employee's appointment expiration date in effect at the beginning of the disability.
- g. Only vacation and sick leave credits may be donated.
- h. Donated leave credits may not be used to receive service credit following a service or disability retirement.
- i. Any CSU union may solicit leave donations from bargaining unit employees for direct transfer to employees eligible to receive such leave credits.
- j. Catastrophic illness or injury may also include an incapacitated member of the employee's immediate family if this results in the employee being required to take time off for an extended period of time in order to care for the family member and the employee has exhausted both all of his/her accrued vacation credits and all of his/her accrued sick leave credits which may be used for family care in accordance with the appropriate collective bargaining Agreement. Only donated vacation credits may be used for such family care catastrophic leave. Immediate family members shall be defined in accordance with the definition contained in the sick leave provisions of the collective bargaining Agreement covering the recipient employee.
- k. The provisions of this Agreement shall be subject to the grievance procedure contained in the collective bargaining Agreement applicable to the grieving employee.

MANAGEMENT AND ACADEMIC RIGHTS

- 15.1 The CSU retains and reserves to itself, whether exercised or not, all powers, rights, authorities, duties, and responsibilities which have not been specifically abridged, delegated, or modified by this Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Union agrees that the CSU has the right to establish, plan, direct and control the CSU's missions, programs, objectives, activities, resources, assets and priorities; to establish, administer and revise procedures, rules and regulations, and direct and control University operations; to alter, extend or discontinue existing equipment, facilities, and location of operations; to determine or modify the number, qualifications, scheduling, responsibilities and assignment of employees and all other personnel; to establish, maintain, modify or enforce standards of performance, conduct, order and safety; to evaluate, determine the content of evaluations, and determine the processes and criteria by which employees' performance is to be evaluated; to establish and require employees to observe CSU rules and regulations; to discipline or dismiss employees; to establish or modify the academic calendars, including holidays and holiday scheduling; to assign work locations; to schedule hours of work; to recruit, hire or transfer; to determine how and by who instruction and other services are delivered; to introduce new methods of instruction; and to exercise sole authority on all decisions involving academic matters.
- Decisions regarding who is provided teaching or other services provided by the CSU, what teaching and other services are provided, how teaching and other services are provided and who provides teaching and other services involve management and academic judgment and shall be made at the sole discretion of the CSU.

NON-DISCRIMINATION

The CSU prohibits discrimination, including harassment, because of any protected status: i.e., age, disability (physical or mental), gender (or sex), gender identity (including transgender), gender expression, genetic information, marital status, medical condition, nationality, race or ethnicity (including color or ancestry), religion (or religious creed), sexual orientation, sex stereotype, and veteran or military status;

All terms used herein are defined in Executive Order 1096 (Revised) or any successor Executive Order.

- An employee who alleges a violation of the CSU systemwide policy prohibiting discrimination, harassment or retaliation (for exercising rights; reporting or opposing protected conduct; assisting or participating in an investigation or proceeding; or assisting someone in reporting or opposing a violation involving discrimination or harassment) shall file their complaint under the procedure described in Executive Order 1096 (Revised), or in any superseding executive order, if applicable.
- An employee may, at any time, file a complaint regarding the same incident giving rise to their discrimination/harassment/retaliation complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and/or the Department of Fair Employment and Housing.

Whistleblowing

- An employee who wishes to make a protected disclosure of an alleged improper governmental activity and/or a significant health or safety threat that has occurred or is occurring at the CSU, shall file their complaint under the procedure described in Executive Order 1115, or in any superseding executive order, if applicable.
- An employee who alleges that they suffered retaliation for making a protected disclosure of an improper governmental activity and/or a significant health or safety threat that has occurred or is occurring at the CSU, shall file their complaint under the procedure described in Executive Order 1116, or in any superseding executive order, if applicable.

PERSONNEL FILES

- 17.1 "Personnel File" shall be defined as information (including reports, documents, correspondence and other materials in their entirety or redacted portions) in either paper or electronic format pertaining exclusively to a bargaining unit employee's employment in the bargaining unit, including employment at the campus during previous appointments in the bargaining unit. Materials related to bargaining unit employee's coursework, pre-employment materials, campus police records and campus medical records shall not be considered part of the personnel file. Pre-employment materials shall be limited to materials that are part of the recruitment and hiring process with the exception of the application form.
- A bargaining unit employee shall have the right to access all materials in the bargaining unit employee's personnel file. The personnel file shall be held in confidence. Access to a personnel file shall be limited to persons with official business. The custodian shall log all instances of access to a personnel file.
- 17.3 The University shall designate the location and the custodian of the file with whom bargaining unit employees or their designated representatives may request access to the bargaining unit employees' personnel file(s).
- A bargaining unit employee may authorize in writing representatives to review her/his employment file(s). The authorization shall be valid for the period designated in the written authorization or, if no time period is designated, for no more than thirty (30) calendar days.
- The University shall endeavor to provide a bargaining unit employee or her/his representative access to or a copy of the bargaining unit employee's employment file(s) as soon as practicable, but no later than fourteen (14) calendar days, following the University's receipt of a written request. One copy of employment file(s) material shall be provided.
- 17.6 A bargaining unit employee shall be notified of the placement of any material in his/her personnel file within fourteen (14) calendar days.
- 17.7 If a bargaining unit employee disagrees with evaluative material in her/his file(s), s/he has 30 days from the date of notification of the placement of this material to append material to the file(s). This provision shall also apply to an individual who is no longer

employed when the evaluative material is placed in his/her file only if notification is possible. The grievance rights related to the content of an employment evaluation of a bargaining unit employee are defined in Article 8, Employment Evaluation.

- 17.8 If a personnel file contains factual, non-evaluative information that the bargaining unit employee believes is incorrect the bargaining unit employee may request of the custodian of the file correction of the file(s) within 30 calendar days of notification of the placement of this material. If the custodian of the file denies the request, the bargaining unit employee may append material to the file within fourteen (14) days of the custodian's denial. This provision shall also apply to an individual who is no longer employed when the evaluative material is placed in his/her file only if notification is possible.
- 17.9 Personnel actions during the term of an appointment shall be based upon materials in the personnel file. Should the President implement a personnel action that is not based on materials in the personnel file, the reasons for the personnel action shall be reduced to writing and placed in the personnel file within fourteen (14) calendar days of the Personnel Action.
- 17.10 Records involving the processing of a grievance, such as grievance/appeals, grievance responses, and settlement documents, shall not be placed in the bargaining unit employee's personnel file(s).

SALARY

18.1 Salary schedules for employees shall be found in Appendix C and incorporated in this Agreement by reference. An employee shall be assigned a salary rate within the salary range of the appropriate classification. Teaching Associates and Graduate Assistants shall be assigned a monthly salary rate. Instructional Student Assistants shall be assigned an hourly salary rate. Appointment of an employee in the same or consecutive academic year(s) to the same classification in the same department or equivalent unit shall require the same or higher salary placement as in his/her previous appointment.

General Salary Increase

- A General Salary Increase (GSI) is a negotiated percentage increase applied to the minimum and maximum rate on the salary schedule for all bargaining unit classifications and to the individual salary rates of all employees who are actively employed or in leave status on the effective date of the increase.
- For fiscal year 2021/22, the salary of each Teaching Associate employee shall be increased by 2% effective July 1, 2021. The minimum and maximum salary rates for Teaching Associate classifications shall be increased by 19.7% effective January 1, 2022.
- For fiscal year 2022/23, the minimum and maximum salary rates for Teaching Associate classifications shall be increased by 1.3% effective January 1, 2023.
- For fiscal year 2021/22, the salary of each Graduate Assistant employee shall be increased by 2% effective July 1, 2021. The minimum and maximum salary rates for Graduate Assistant classifications shall be increased by 19.7% effective January 1, 2022.
- For fiscal year 2022/23, the minimum and maximum salary rates for Graduate Assistant classifications shall be increased by 1.3% effective January 1, 2023.
- 18.7 For fiscal year 2021/22, the salary rate of each Instructional Student Assistant shall be increased by 2% effective July 1, 2021. The minimum hourly rate for Instructional Student Assistant classifications shall be increased to \$16.00 per hour effective January

- 1, 2022 and the maximum hourly rate for Instructional Student Assistant classifications shall be increased to \$21.42 per hour effective January 1, 2022.
- For fiscal year 2022/23, the minimum hourly rate for Instructional Student Assistant classifications shall be increased to \$16.20 per hour effective January 1, 2023 and the maximum hourly rate for Instructional Student Assistant classifications shall be increased to \$21.62 per hour effective January 1, 2023.

Direct Deposit

Employees who meet the eligibility criteria established by CSU policies shall be provided the option of direct deposit of their pay.

SEVERABILITY

- 19.1 If the CSU believes that any provision of this Agreement is contrary to law, the CSU shall notify the Union that such provision shall be of no force or effect; but the remainder of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. The notification shall include the specific reasons why the CSU believes that the provision(s) is contrary to law, including reference to relevant court decisions and/or statutory changes or any other relevant adjudicated rulings by an agency or court of competent jurisdiction.
- In the event that the Union disagrees with the CSU's belief that the provision(s) is contrary to law, the Union reserves the right to contest the CSU's determination pursuant to the provisions of Article 10, Grievance Procedure.
- In the event that the Union agrees with the CSU's belief that the provision(s) is contrary to law, then the parties shall meet and confer in good faith with respect to any provision found to be in contravention of the law, as soon as possible, but no later than thirty (30) days of such request unless the parties mutually agree to extend the date.

SICK LEAVE

Accrual of Sick Leave

- 20.1 Following completion of one (1) academic qualifying pay period, for a Teaching Associate in an Academic Year classification, or one (1) qualifying pay period, for a Teaching Associate in a twelve (12) month classification, such Teaching Associates shall accrue sick leave with pay pro-rata according to timebase, based on the following formula: (timebase) x (8 hours). Thereafter, for each additional academic qualifying pay period or qualifying pay period, credit for sick leave with pay shall be accrued, based on the formula above.
- The maximum sick leave that can be accrued in one month is 8 hours, from all positions combined. The maximum sick leave that can be accrued in one year is 8 hours per month for 12 months, for a maximum total of 96 hours per year, from all positions combined. Sick leave may be accumulated without limit, and no additional sick leave with pay beyond that accumulated shall be granted.
- Upon request, a Teaching Associate who returns to CSU employment within ten (10) months following the date of separation shall be credited by the campus with his/her sick leave balance at the time of separation from previous CSU employment. If the Teaching Associate is appointed to a classification in which sick leave is not accrued, this provision shall not apply.
- 20.4 Bargaining unit employees other than Teaching Associates do not accrue sick leave.

Absences Chargeable to Sick Leave

- The use of sick leave may be authorized by the appropriate administrator only when an employee is absent because of:
 - a. illness, injury, or disability related to pregnancy;
 - b. exposure to contagious disease;
 - c. dental, eye, or other physical or medical examinations or treatments by a licensed practitioner; and

- d. illness or injury in the immediate family. Sick leave for family care is primarily for emergency situations. Up to five (5) days of accrued sick leave credit may be used for family care during any one (1) calendar year.
- The term "immediate family" as used in this Agreement shall refer to the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner, parent, child, stepparent, stepchild, or close relative or person residing in the immediate household of the employee (except domestic employee or roomer). Also included in this definition shall be any minor children or incapacitated individuals for whom the employee has primary responsibility or legal guardianship or conservatorship.

Procedure for Requesting Sick Leave

- A Teaching Associate shall be responsible for immediately reporting an absence to the appropriate administrator in compliance with department and campus policies.
- 20.8 The employee shall be responsible for completing and signing the campus absence form and returning the absence form to the appropriate administrator upon reporting to work.
- 20.9 Under no circumstances may a Teaching Associate be granted sick leave for days when the Teaching Associate would not normally be paid or during an officially scheduled campus closure, unless the employee is officially scheduled to work during such a closure.
- An employee may be required to provide a physician's statement or other appropriate verification for absences after three (3) consecutive days charged to sick leave.

Charging Sick Leave

A Teaching Associate shall be charged sick leave pro-rata according to timebase, as provided in the formula in provision 20.1, for each day he/she was not available to work due to an absence chargeable to sick leave. Sick leave shall be charged for each day, exclusive of days on which the campus is closed, from the onset of such an absence until the employee resumes attendance at the campus or until the employee notifies the appropriate administrator he/she is available to resume work. A Teaching Associate shall not be considered to work more than five (5) days in a seven (7) day period for the purpose of charging sick leave.

SUMMER EMPLOYMENT FOR TAS

- 21.1 A matriculated graduate student may be appointed to summer term employment as a Teaching Associate separate from an academic year appointment, regardless of whether the graduate student is enrolled for the summer term.
- 21.2 The contract in its entirety applies to summer Teaching Associate's, except as modified below:
 - a. Appointments, Posting, Notification

All of Article 2, Appointments, Posting and Notification shall apply except 2.7 and 2.12. The following provisions will apply instead:

- 1. Appointment Notification: Following the hiring decision, the employee will receive a written notice of appointment or reappointment in paper or electronic format (e.g. email or website) no less than thirty (30) days before the start of the appointment. In cases in which a position becomes available less than thirty (30) days before the commencement of the appointment, the aforementioned notice shall be provided as soon as practicable after the decision is made.
- 2. Conditions of Appointment: The President may cancel classes based on budget or enrollment. If an appointment is cancelled or reduced based on budget or enrollment, the Teaching Associate shall be compensated on a pro-rata basis for any classes taught.
- b. Holidays

Those holidays in Article 12, Holidays that fall during summer session shall be observed on the day and in the manner specified.

c. Salary Rate

All of Article 18, Salary, shall apply.

Except on campuses with quarter system year-round operations (QSYRO), the basis for the appointment shall be the number of Weighted Teaching Units (WTU) assigned. The University will rely on existing practices in determining the number of WTU to be credited.

On campuses operating on the semester calendar, including CSU Stanislaus, compensation for Teaching Associates who held appointments as Teaching Associates during the immediately preceding academic year will be based on the

salary during the immediately preceding academic year using the following formula:

Salary per WTU = annual full-time equivalent salary/30.

On campuses operating on a quarter calendar (other than QSYRO campuses), compensation for Teaching Associates who held appointments as Teaching Associates during the immediately preceding academic year will be based on the salary during the immediately preceding academic year using the following formula:

Salary per WTU = annual full-time equivalent salary/45

On campuses with quarter system year-round operations (QSYRO campuses), compensation for Teaching Associates who held appointments as Teaching Associates during the academic year, the summer quarter payment will be equal to one-third of the prior academic year salary for the equivalent time base.

An individual who did not have an appointment as a Teaching Associate in the prior academic year may be appointed at any salary within the appropriate summer classification and range.

For a 6 week summer session on a semester campus, an assignment of 6 WTU is equal to a 1.0 time base. This equation applies proportionally to summer sessions of different lengths.

Payments shall be made monthly until conclusion of the summer session in which the work occurred. The University will create a new salary classification to accommodate summer appointments.

TRAINING

- All required training and orientation undertaken during the term of the appointment shall be considered part of the workload for the term. Exceptions to this provision shall be limited to required training per University Executive Orders or mandatory coursework (i.e., courses required of all students in a particular program, which does not include elective courses) for: a) accreditation requirements or b) approved curricular requirements.
- Academic Student Employees will not be required to pay additional tuition or fees as a result of enrolling in or repeating courses (including pedagogy courses) specifically related to training for their position outside of the exceptions listed above.
- 22.3 For any orientation, training, or meeting required as a condition of employment, that is scheduled outside of the dates of the appointment term, Academic Student Employees shall receive either
 - a. a separate appointment for the dates of the required orientation, training, or meetings; or
 - b. an extension of the appointment to cover the dates of the required orientation, training, or meetings.

UNION ACCESS AND RIGHTS

Access via Campus Communications

Union employee representatives may use their university e-mail account and campus mail for official Union communications in accordance with applicable reasonable university policy and this Article. The Union representative shall package and label materials for convenient handling according to the normal specifications of the campus which shall be communicated upon the request of the representative. Email communications must conform to campus email policies with regards to size and format of the communication sent. The name of the Union shall appear on all materials sent through the campus mail or email service. Employee mailboxes, if any, may be utilized by the Union for purposes of union communications to employees.

Union Access and Activities on Campus

- The Union shall conduct Union business involving employees on campus during individual employee's non-work-time on campus, except as provided for elsewhere in this Agreement. Union business shall not interfere with campus programs, operations, or the work of employees or other campus personnel.
- As a courtesy, an administrator designated by the campus may be notified in advance via telephone or in writing by a Union representative who is not an employee when such individual visits the campus.

Use of CSU Property/Services

- Based upon availability, the CSU shall provide the Union with one office space per campus with phone lines and high-speed internet access on each campus where employees work. The available office space may be shared with other campus unions. Charges for office space, phone lines and high-speed internet shall be borne by the Union.
- The Union shall have access to existing bulletin boards for the posting of Union material subject to reasonable campus rules.

The University shall provide the Union access to meeting rooms at no cost based on availability and in accordance with reasonable campus rules. Use of other University equipment property or services shall be provided at reasonable cost, if any, in accordance with reasonable campus rules.

Union Release Time

23.7 Union leave shall be defined as

- a. a full or partial leave of absence from an appointment within a UAW-represented classification or
- b. an appointment to a UAW classification for purposes as designated by the UAW. Such appointments may only be made to students who are in good academic standing as defined in Article 2.4, and who are either currently employed in Unit 11, or previously have been employed in Unit 11.

Leaves as defined in (a) shall be without loss of compensation or benefits.

Appointments under (b) shall be at the current rate of compensation for Academic Student Employees holding a concurrent appointment in the Bargaining Unit. Where the Academic Student Employee holds multiple concurrent appointments, the appointment and compensation paid under this provision shall be at the highest appointment held.

For Academic Student Employees who do not hold a concurrent appointment within the Bargaining Unit, the appointment shall be at the previous salary of the range and classification in which the student was most recently employed within the Bargaining Unit.

Non-Reimbursable Union Leave

- 1. Prior to the start of the academic term, or as soon as practicable, the UAW shall submit to the Chancellor's Office a list of Academic Student Employees for whom union leave is being requested. Not more than two such union leaves at any one campus may be designated. Such a list shall include the employee's name, campus, title and duration of appointment.
- 2. Leave hereunder shall not exceed a total of three (3) Full-Time Equivalent positions per year.
- 3. Use of leave under this provision shall only be as designated by UAW and may be partial, or up to the maximum time base of a 0.5 Full-Time Equivalent appointment.

- 4. No carry over from one fiscal year to another is permitted.
- 5. If a leave is to be ended early and the employee returns to work, UAW shall give the campus a minimum of fourteen (14) calendar days notice.
- 6. UAW must report to the CSU when the statewide or campus maximum is reached.
- 7. An employee on such a leave shall continue to earn service credit and retirement credit if applicable.
- 8. Vacation, holiday and sick leave credit(s) shall continue to accrue if applicable.

Reimbursable Union Leave

- 1. Prior to the start of the academic term or as soon as practicable, the UAW shall submit to the Chancellor's Office a list of Academic Student Employees for whom reimbursable union leave is being requested. Such a list shall include the employee's name, campus, title and duration of appointment. Such leaves shall not exceed an aggregate amount of six (6) Full-Time Equivalent positions per year.
- 2. Use of leave under this provision shall only be as designated by UAW and may be partial, or up to the maximum time base of a 0.5 Full-Time Equivalent appointment.
- 3. If a leave is to be ended early and the employee returns to work, UAW shall give the campus a minimum of 14 calendar days notice.
- 4. No carry over from one fiscal year to another is permitted.
- 5. An employee on such a leave shall continue to earn service credit and retirement credit if applicable.
- 6. Vacation, holiday and sick leave credit(s) shall continue to accrue if applicable.
- 7. The CSU shall be reimbursed by UAW for all compensation (including benefits) paid to the employee during such a leave. Reimbursement shall be made by UAW no later than thirty (30) calendar days from its receipt of the CSU certification of payment of compensation to the employee. The parties agree that failure to reimburse the CSU within thirty (30) calendar days may result in the denial of any subsequent requests for leave under this provision until all delinquent payments have been made.

Employee Lists

Except as otherwise provided by the parties, the CSU, through the Office of the Chancellor, shall provide the following information to the Union by the end of the first week of every month in a computer-readable format in two files containing information on every employee in the unit:

23.9 Employment History Report:

- Name
- Email Address
- Unique identifier for each employee (formula is confidential)
- Home Address
- Original Hire Date
- Class code
- Class title
- CB ID
- Range code
- Rate of pay (monthly or hourly, depending on class, reflects FTE)
- Campus
- FTE decimal (will be zero for ISA classes because they are hourly)
- Reporting unit code
- Reporting unit description
- PIMS department code
- PIMS department name
- Status (active or unpaid leave)
- Length of appointment
- Appointment expiration date

Payroll Report:

- Name
- Appointment Number
- Starting Date

- College Name
- Undergraduate or Graduate Status
- Separation Date
- Earned Date
- Unique identifier for each employee (formula is confidential)
- Class code
- Campus
- Reporting unit code
- Reporting unit description
- Action code (regular pay, supplemental pay, redeposit, accounts receivable, reverse accounts receivable)
- Gross monthly pay
- Monthly employer contribution for each benefit plan (includes health, flexcash, dental, vision, life, retirement, social security, Medicare)
- Hours paid
- Dues and Union deductions of any kind, or Agency fees
- Pay period (month and year)
- As a condition of providing and having confirmed receipt of the aforementioned information on a monthly basis the CSU and the Union agree that the CSU is under no obligation to provide the identical employee information for the identical period of time more than one time during the life of this Agreement.

<u>University Repre</u>sentatives

23.11 The CSU shall designate the University representatives responsible for responding to Union information requests under HEERA and this Agreement. The Union shall only submit information requests to these designated CSU representatives or their designees.

Reimbursement of Costs

The Union shall promptly reimburse the University for the reasonable cost of providing information, except for the information identified above, requested pursuant to HEERA, the Public Records Act, or this Agreement.

Publication of the Agreement

Upon ratification and approval by the parties, the University shall publish the agreement on its website.

Union Orientation

- The Union shall be provided 30 minutes to present Union information at campus-wide, college-wide and tutoring center employment orientations. The Union shall also be provided 30 minutes to present Union information at department employment orientations if all of the unit members have not been required to attend an employment orientation as defined above.
- The Union is solely responsible for the content and conduct of the Union presentation. No supervisor, manager or University official shall be present at the Union presentation. The University shall notify the Union in writing of all Campus-wide, college-wide and tutoring center orientations along with contact information at least 10 days prior to the commencement of each orientation.

Union Membership Election Form

- A Union-drafted union membership election form shall be provided to all new employees at the same time as the employee is provided the new employee payroll information (e.g. W-4 and I-9 forms).
- Each campus shall make arrangements with the UAW regarding the method of collecting forms.
- The University will not discourage employees from completing the form or becoming members of the Union.
- Each hiring unit shall be required to post location/schedule information for all Unit 11 employees hired for the semester/quarter by the end of the fourth week of the semester/quarter. The posting shall contain the following: employee name, job title, office location (if applicable), and office hours (if applicable).

UNION SECURITY

24.1 It is the intent of this Article to provide that payroll deductions for Union members be deducted from their pay warrants insofar as permitted by Government Code Section 1153 and as mandated by HEERA. The State Controller's Office (SCO) will assess the normal service fee for each deduction processed.

Union Dues, Assessments, Initiation Fees

- The CSU/SCO agrees to deduct and transmit to the Union all authorized deductions (dues, assessments, initiation fees) from Union members within Bargaining Unit 11 who have signed and approved authorization cards for such deduction on file with the Union.
- 24.3 As provided in HEERA, employees shall be free to join or not join the Union.
- 24.4 Monies withheld will be reported and remitted on a semi-monthly basis to the Union by the SCO in accordance with SCO procedures.

Remedial Deductions

- 24.5 Should the CSU/SCO fail to deduct Union dues from a Unit 11 employee, the CSU/SCO shall make a remedial deduction from such employees' earnings during the subsequent monthly payroll cycle. These monies will be remitted to the UAW per 24.4.
- In the event that any remedial deduction is not made and transmitted in accordance with 24.5, the parties shall meet to discuss how the error occurred and what the appropriate remedy should be.
- The CSU will not be financially responsible for payment of remedial dues or initiation fees whenever good faith steps have been taken to make and transmit remedial deductions pursuant to 24.5 and 24.6. This provision expires upon implementation of the SCO's new payroll system (currently referred to as the 21st Century Project or the MyCalPAYS system).

24.8 The Union agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the CSU/SCO harmless against any claim, of any nature, and against any suit instituted against the CSU/SCO, arising from its payroll deductions of the Union authorized deductions.

VCAP Check-Off

- For employees who voluntarily choose to authorize deductions from their payroll warrants to fund political activity via the Union's VCAP deduction, that amount will be added to the dues amount as processed by the SCO.
- 24.10 The provisions of HEERA shall govern the deduction of authorized Union deductions following the expiration of this Agreement.
- 24.11 The University and the Union will develop additional mutually agreeable administrative procedures if necessary to be consistent with SCO procedures.
- A CSU/UAW working group shall meet on a quarterly basis to discuss issues relating to deduction and transmission of dues, assessments, and initiation fees and/or any other issues arising under the terms of this Article. CSU shall be represented in these meetings by the Associate Vice Chancellor (Labor Relations) and other CSU representatives as assigned.

VACATION

25.1 The provisions of this Article apply only to Teaching Associates in twelve (12) month classifications. 25.2 The provisions of this Article do not apply to other bargaining unit employees. 25.3 Teaching Associates in twelve (12) month classifications shall be entitled to accrue vacation with pay pro-rata according to timebase, based on the following formula: (Timebase) x (16 hours) for each qualifying month of service. 25.4 For purposes of computing vacation credit, a Teaching Associate in a twelve (12) month classification who works eleven (11) or more days in a monthly pay period is considered to have completed a month of qualifying service. When an absence without pay of more than eleven (11) consecutive working days falls into two (2) consecutive qualifying pay periods, one (1) of the pay periods is disqualified. 25.5 An authorized leave of absence without pay shall not be considered service for the purposes of vacation accrual. 25.6 The maximum vacation that can be accrued in one month is 16 hours from all positions combined. 25.7 Vacation credits are cumulative to a maximum of eighty (80) hours. 25.8 Requests for scheduling vacation shall be submitted in writing to the appropriate administrator at least thirty (30) days in advance. Vacations shall be scheduled by mutual agreement of the employee and appropriate administrator. When authorized to do so by the appropriate administrator, a Teaching Associate may take vacation without submitting such a request. 25.9 Upon separation from service or transfer to a classification that is not eligible for vacation, any unused or accumulated vacation shall be paid.

WORKLOAD

- Teaching Associates, are non-exempt employees who may be appointed up to 1.0 Full time Equivalent. Graduate Assistants are non-exempt employees and CSU policy limits their appointment to no more than 0.5 Full Time Equivalent. Instructional Student Assistants are non-exempt employees and CSU policy limits their work assignment to no more than 20 hours in a week during periods of instruction.
- The University shall pay all Teaching Associations, Graduate Assistants and Instructional Student Assistants for all hours assigned by their supervisor and worked, including time spent in work-related meetings.

Pursuant to Article 2.8 the written notice of appointment will include the appointment time-base percentage (or range of hours for ISA's) and the number of hours that will be spent in conjunction with the assignment per week. Changes to the appointment time-base percentage (or range of hours for ISA's) and the number of hours that will be spent in conjunction with the course assignment per week must be authorized in writing by the appropriate administrator.

- When an ISA is assigned and scheduled by their supervisor to tutor a student, the ISA shall be paid for showing up at the scheduled tutoring session if the student fails to show and the ISA was not notified before the start of the scheduled session. In such case, the supervisor may assign other duties to the ISA. The ISA shall be paid for the time period of the scheduled tutoring session.
- The University shall provide Teaching Associates, Graduate Assistants and Instructional Student Assistants a fifteen (15) minute paid break for each four (4) hours worked. The appropriate administrator in accordance with the operational needs of the department shall determine paid break schedules.
- No later than 14 days after the start of an appointment, supervisors shall discuss the scope and pattern of duties with each Unit 11 represented employee prior to the performance of actual duties (see Appendix E).
- All Unit 11 members shall initiate discussions with their supervisor as soon as they anticipate that there may be a problem with performing the Unit 11 member's assigned duties within the numbers of hours of their appointment in any given week(s). If a Unit 11 member reaches the point where they have worked the maximum number of hours of their appointment in any week, the employee shall stop working and immediately

contact their supervisor. No further work that week should be undertaken without the written authorization of their supervisor.

The supervisor will inform the Unit 11 represented employee of the campus procedure to report the absences as necessary and time worked.

Hours of Work

The full-time workweek is a work week of forty (40) hours within seven (7) consecutive twenty-four (24) hour days. Less than full-time employees shall be assigned hours pro rata and days of work as determined by the President. The workweek shall begin at 12:01 a.m. on Sunday and end at 12:00 midnight the following Saturday.

Overtime

- Overtime is defined as authorized time worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek of seven (7) consecutive twenty-four (24) hour periods.
- Overtime shall be authorized and assigned in advance by the appropriate administrator.
- Overtime shall be compensated at one and a half times the employee's regular rate of pay.
- Paid holiday, paid sick leave, and paid vacation time shall be counted as time worked for purposes of the Article.
- 26.12 All overtime hours worked shall be compensated by cash.
- The only official methods for the computation and accumulation of overtime in this bargaining unit are those provided in this Article.

DURATION

- Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, this Agreement shall be effective upon its ratification by both parties. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect up to and including September 30, 2023.
- Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, neither party shall have any duty to meet and confer for the purpose of modifying terms and conditions of the Agreement.
- Written notice shall be given by either party seeking to commence negotiations on a successor contract no earlier than February 1, 2023, and no later than March 1, 2023.
- The parties shall exchange initial proposals no later than fourteen days before the March 2023 CSU Board of Trustees Meeting.
- As provided for in HEERA, any term(s) of this Agreement that carries an economic cost shall not be implemented until the amount required therefore is appropriated and made available to the CSU for expenditure for such purposes. If less than the amount is needed to implement this Agreement is appropriated and made available to the CSU for expenditure, the term(s) of this Agreement deemed by the CSU to carry economic cost shall automatically be subject to the meet and confer process.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

CSU-UAW Agreement

A. Recognition and Certification of UAW

The California State University ("CSU") agrees to withdraw any objections to PERB processing Petition Number LA-RR-1099-H without the need for a hearing, subject to the following conditions.

- 1) PERB determines, pursuant to HEERA, that the California Alliance of Academic Student Employees/International Union, United Automobile, Aerospace and Agricultural Implement Workers of America ("UAW") has a sufficient showing of support in order to be recognized as the exclusive bargaining representative of the employees in the bargaining unit defined in paragraph C below.
- 2) PERB certifies the UAW as exclusive bargaining agent for employees in the bargaining unit defined in paragraph C below.

Once these conditions are satisfied, CSU will recognize the UAW as the exclusive bargaining agent for employees in the bargaining unit certified by PERB and begin the HEERA bargaining process.

B. New Instructional Student Assistant Classification

The parties recognize that Student Assistants may work in just one individual department or equivalent organizational unit or more than one individual department or equivalent organizational unit on a CSU campus.

The CSU shall create the new classification "Instructional Student Assistant." The Classification Standard is attached and incorporated by reference. A Student Assistant shall be classified as an Instructional Student Assistant in an individual department or equivalent organizational unit if he/she performs grading, tutoring or instruction for a majority of his/her work hours during the duration of the academic term in that individual department or equivalent organizational unit on a CSU campus. A Student Assistant classified as an Instructional Student Assistant shall not be reclassified for the duration of the entire academic term.

Additionally, in cases where a Student Assistant has more than one simultaneous separate appointment in an individual department or equivalent organizational unit, each appointment shall be classified separately. The Student Assistant shall be classified to an Instructional Student Assistant in each separate appointment for which he/she performs grading, tutoring or instruction for a majority of his/her work hours during the duration of the academic term in the individual department or equivalent organizational unit on a CSU campus.

C. Definition of Bargaining Unit

There will be a single statewide bargaining unit for UAW-represented employees and it shall include employees in the following classifications:

- 1. Teaching Associate (except as excluded pursuant to paragraph D below),
- 2. Instructional Student Assistant, (except as excluded pursuant to paragraph D below), and
- 3. Graduate Assistant

D. Status of Teaching Associates and Instructional Student Assistants

The parties agree that in the event that PERB (in case numbers LA-UM-723-H, LA-UM-726-H and/or LA-UM-727-H) makes a final and binding determination that certain or all Teaching Associates (TAs) or Instructional Student Assistants (ISAs) shall be properly included in the bargaining units represented by the California Faculty Association (CFA), the Academic Professionals of California (APC) and/or the California State Employees Association (CSEA) said employees will be excluded from the UAW unit and the UAW will disclaim interest in said employees.

The CSU shall maintain the position it has taken in regard to the above referenced petitions before PERB. That CSU position regarding CFA is defined in the May 12, 2004 letter from the CSU to PERB and subsequent briefs. The CSU position regarding APC is defined in the April 2, 2004 and June 7, 2004 letters from CSU to PERB, except that the CSU has now reached agreement to include ISAs in the UAW bargaining unit defined in Section C. The CSU position regarding CSEA is defined in the April 9, 2004 and June 7, 2004 letters from CSU to PERB, except that the CSU has now reached agreement to include ISAs in the UAW bargaining unit defined in Section C.

E. Hold Harmless

In consideration for the CSU's voluntary recognition of the UAW as the exclusive representative of employees in the bargaining unit defined in paragraph C prior to final determination of the pending unit clarification/modification petitions, the UAW agrees to indemnify and hold the CSU harmless for monetary remedies required to be paid by the CSU in any cause of action brought by a TA or an ISA or CFA, APC or CSEA seeking reimbursement of improperly collected agency fees as a result of an adverse final ruling in any of the pending petitions that have been filed by the CFA (LA-UM-723-H) the APC (LA-UM-726-H), and/or the CSEA (LA-UM-727-H).

The UAW shall be under no obligation to reimburse the CSU for attorney fees or other costs other than the monetary remedies described above. Nothing in this agreement waives the UAW position that the petitions in LA-UM-723H, LA-UM-

726-H and LA-UM-727-H should be dismissed because CFA, APC and CSEA failed to intervene in the instant matter.

F. Establishment of New Bargaining Unit Information in the State Controller's Office Database

The CSU shall recognize the UAW as soon as this Agreement is ratified by the CSU Board of Trustees and the UAW by no later than September 14, 2004, and the UAW is certified by PERB. In order to comply with the requirements of the State Controller's Office, the parties acknowledge that the UAW bargaining unit code will be established effective October 1, 2004.

For CSU	FOR UAW		
Sun Suf-	Mile Miller		
\$amuel/A. Strafaci Assistant Vice Chancellor Human Resources	Mike Miller International Representative		
august 19, Zoo4	August 18, 2004		

Section B of the Agreement dated August 18, 2004 is amended to read as follows:

B. New Instructional Student Assistant Classification

The parties recognize that Student Assistants may work in just one individual CSU department or equivalent organizational unit or more than one individual CSU department or equivalent organization unit.

The CSU shall create a new classification "Instructional Student Assistant." The Classification Standard is attached and incorporated by reference. A Student Assistant shall be classified as an Instructional Student Assistant in an individual CSU department or equivalent organizational unit if he/she performs grading, tutoring or instruction for a majority of his/her work hours during the duration of the academic term in that individual CSU department or equivalent organizational unit regardless of whether the work is performed on or off a CSU campus. A Student Assistant classified as an Instructional Student Assistant shall not e reclassified for the duration of the entire academic term.

Additionally, in cases where a Student Assistant has more than one simultaneous separate appointment in an individual CSU department or equivalent organizational unit, each appointment shall be classified separately. The Student Assistant shall be classified to an Instructional Student Assistant in each separate appointment for which he/she performs grading, tutoring or instruction for a majority of his/her work hours during the duration of the academic term in the individual CSU department or equivalent organizational unit regardless of whether the work is performed on or off a CSU campus.

APPENDIX B

CSU/UAW CONTRACT GRIEVANCE FORM

UNIT 11

GRIEVANT'S NAME				CLASSIFICATION (TITLE)
CAMPUS	IIRING UNIT/DEP.	ARTMENT	TELEPH	HONE NUMBER
ADDRESS				
REPRESENTATIVE'S NAME		REPRESEN	TATIVE'	S TELEPHONE NUMBER
TYPE OF GRIEVANCE		SPECIFIC A	ARTICLE	(S) AND SECTION(S) ALLEGED TO
	NDIVIDUAL GROUP UNION	BE VIOLA		
DATE(S) OF ALLEGED VIOLAT	ION(S)	IMMEDIAT TELEPHON		RVISOR'S NAME, TITLE, AND BER
FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES AND SECTIONS WERE VIOLAT) AND EXPLAIN HOW THE ARTICLES EDED.)
REMEDY REQUESTED				
GRIEVANT'S SIGNATURE				DATE
REPRESENTATIVE'S SIGNATUI	RE			DATE
		SU USE ONLY		
Assigned Grievance Number	Formal S	tep I Filing Da	te	Formal Step II Filing Date



UAW Local 4123 Phone (916) 498-8452 - Fax (916) 498-8337

APPENDIX C

SALARY SCHEDULE

The Unit 11 salary schedule can be found at

 $\underline{http://calstate.edu/HRAdm/SalarySchedule/SalaryDocs.aspx}$

APPENDIX D

Graduate Assistant Salary Side-letter

Upon ratification of the Unit 11 Agreement by the CSU Board of Trustees on June 24, 2005, and effective August 2, 2005, the CSU Salary Schedule for Graduate Assistant classifications will be changed as indicated on Attachment A. The base salary and time-base of each Graduate Assistant on active payroll status will be proportionately adjusted to reflect the changes in the minimum and maximum salary rates, as described below. This change will be effective upon the date of appointment for all Graduate Assistants hired on or after August 2, 2005.

The changes provided by this side-letter do not represent a substantive change in individual Graduate Assistant salaries or the Salary Schedule for Graduate Assistant classifications. Previously, the Graduate Assistant Salary Schedule and individual Graduate Assistant salaries reflected the concept that a Graduate Assistant normally working 20 hours per week was considered "full-time," designated as a 1.0 FTE time-base. The revised Salary Schedule for Graduate Assistant classifications will reflect the concept that a Graduate Assistant normally working 20 hours per week is now being considered "half-time," designated as a 0.5 FTE time-base. In order to reflect this change, the prior minimums and maximums on the salary schedule will be doubled.

The actual pay rate for an individual Graduate Assistant will not be impacted by this change in the Salary Schedule. However, the time-base of each Graduate Assistant on active payroll status on the effective date of this change will be halved; at the same time his/her base salary rate will be doubled. For example, a 1.0 FTE time-base Graduate Assistant earning \$1,000 per month on the effective date will be converted to a 0.5 FTE time-base at the same time that his/her base salary rate will be doubled from \$1,000 to 2,000. In such case, the actual pay rate of \$1,000 per month will stay the same.

This side-letter does not alter current CSU policy which limits Graduate Assistant employment to no more than 20 hours per week. CSU policies will be amended to reflect the provisions of this side-letter.

California State University	Mike Milla 180
California State University	United Auto Workers
6/21/05	6/20/05
Date	Date

Attachment A

Graduate Assistant Salary Side-Letter

Effective August 2, 2005

Class	D C-4-	Class Title	Salary Range		
Code	Range Code	Class Title	Minimum	Maximum	
2355	of the Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Ann	Graduate Assistant		moral activities and a second	
	y-w-a	Range A – ACAD YR-SEM	\$1,600.00	\$2,268.00	
	2	Range B – ACAD SEM	\$1,600.00	\$2,268.00	
	3	Range C – ACAD QTR	\$1,780.00	\$2,516.00	
	4	Range D – ACAD YR-QTR	\$1,780.00	\$2,516.00	
2325		Graduate Assistant Monthly	\$1,600.00	\$2,516.00	
2326		Graduate Assistant, On- Campus Work-Study	\$1,600.00	\$2,516.00	

Letter of Understanding Regarding Date of Filing Under Article 10, Grievance Procedure September 21, 2005

The undersigned parties agree that grievances, responses and appeals are considered filed on the date they are received by a party via fax, email, hand delivery or U.S. mail.

THE CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY

INTERNATIONAL UNION, UNITED AUTOMOBILE, AEROSPACE AND AGRICULTURAL IMPLEMENT WORKERS OF AMERICA (UAW) and its LOCAL UNION 4123

By: Jel block

By:

APPENDIX E

DESCRIPTION OF DUTIES FORM

Term:	Super	rvisor:	Course #:
		Location:	
Day/Time:		Employee:	
that the time require	ed to complete these due Please check the appro	ed of the employee. Care shittes is consistent with the hopping items and describe, as	urs established in the
Present lectu	res	Frequency/dates:	
Instruction/s	upervision of se	ctions/courses/labs per week	
Preparation			
Hold	office hours per week		
Supervisor/A	ASE(s) meetings	Frequency/duration:	_
Attend pedag	gogy classes required for	or training purposes	
Read and ev	aluate student papers.	Describe:	
Proctor exan	ninations		
Perform indi	vidual and/or group tut	toring	
Maintain/sub	omit student records (e.	g. grades)	
Evaluate stud	dent assignments		
Provide rese	arch assistance		
Perform other	er tasks as assigned. Pl	ease list:	
The supervisor will	perform class observati	ions. Yes No	-
full-time (40 hours p Instructional Studen	per week) over the period at Assistants are non-ex	oyees who may be appointed od of the appointment. Grad empt employees. CSU policy week during periods of instru	luate Assistants and y limits their work
	veek is a work week of four (24) hour periods.	forty (40) hours in a workw	eek of seven (7)
Please refer to Artic	le 26.6-26.11 regarding	g overtime provisions.	

SIDE MOUS

11:30 CSN-0 May

Memorandum of Understanding:

Mihal Culdwell 9/08/14

JA. 9-28-16

The CSU and UAW are committed to maintaining an inclusive community that values diversity and fosters tolerance and mutual respect. Toward that end, the parties agree to meet three times a year to discuss issues of mutual concern, including but not limited to, the provision and access to gender neutral bathrooms; the provision of lactation stations for the use of Unit 11 employees pursuant to HR 2011-03; and the publication/dissemination by the campus of the location of these facilities to all Unit 11 members.

For CSU

For UAW

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING INTERDISCIPLINARY TEACHING ASSOCIATES

The parties agree to modify the language that appears in Coded Memorandum HR 2005-30, paragraph 3.

The Teaching Associate classifications are limited to degree-seeking graduate students in the academic department in which they are employed to perform instruction and who are employed because they are degree-seeking students in that department. Degree-seeking graduate students who are enrolled in interdisciplinary degree programs may be hired as Teaching Associates for departments that comprise their interdisciplinary programs. Teaching Associates must be registered in a CSU graduate degree program and must be enrolled in courses towards the completion of that graduate degree during the teaching associate appointment period. This includes students enrolled in CSU courses through CSU extension, if the courses are taken for credit toward completion of the CSU graduate degree. The Teaching Associate classifications also are available for graduate students enrolled in courses during the summer and for graduate students who will be continuing their enrollment in the fall term. Students enrolled in credential programs and students enrolled in graduate programs outside the CSU are not eligible for this classification.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

The United Auto Workers (UAW) and California State University (CSU) agree to the following:

It is the intent of the parties that Graduate Assistants who were previously appointed in classification 2355 (Graduate Assistant) on semester, quarter, or academic year appointments not suffer financial loss as a result of being appointed in the Graduate Assistant-Monthly (2325, 2326) classifications. The university shall adjust the pay rate of Graduate Assistants whose appointments in classifications 2325 or 2326 are for time periods spanning a semester, quarter, or academic year to provide for the equivalent total gross pay that would have been realized in classification 2355 for an equivalent appointment, plus any applicable General Salary Increases.

If a campus provides fee waivers to Graduate Assistants under Executive Order 611, the campus shall continue to appoint those Graduate Assistants receiving fee waiver in classification 2355.

The parties agree to create a new Teaching Associate classification (Teaching Associate – Extended Education) that will be reserved for use for employment of Teaching Associates in forcredit Extended Education programs, including Special Sessions as defined in Executive Order 1047 or its successor(s). Teaching Associates appointed in summer sessions operated through Extended Education will continue to be appointed in classification 2324. Pay rates for Teaching Associates who hold or previously held appointments in classification 2354 (Teaching Associate – Academic Year) will be determined based on the number of Weighted Teaching Units (WTU) taught:

- Semester campuses: Salary per WTU = annual full-time equivalent salary /30
- Quarter campuses: Salary per WTU = annual full-time equivalent salary/45

Time base shall be determined according to the number of WTUs taught and the length of the session; at semester campuses, full time shall be considered a teaching assignment of 1 WTU per week, and at quarter campuses, full time shall be considered a teaching assignment of 1.5 WTU per week.

Conditions of appointment for Teaching Associates – Extended Education: The President or designee may cancel classes based on budget or enrollment. If an appointment is cancelled or reduced based on budget or enrollment, the Teaching Associate shall be compensated on a prorata basis for any classes taught.

James Banks	Date	John Swarbrick	Date
International Representative		Associate Vice Chancellor	
United Auto Workers		California State University	

Memorandum of Understanding

The California State University is committed to being an inclusive and intercultural institution of higher education that is enhanced by our global community.

The CSU and UAW agree to meet each spring, summer, and fall to discuss immigration issues and other areas of concern pertaining to international Academic Student Employees during the life of the 2018-2020 Collective Bargaining Agreement. The parties will agree upon the date, time, and location of the meeting.

Where the parties agree that additional meetings are necessary, the parties shall set a mutually agreed upon time, date, and location of the meeting.

For the UAW:

Sandip Roy President

UAW Local 4123

Date: 07/30/2018.

James Banks

UAW International Representative

UAW Local 4123

Date:

erigania Datah a/4

VAM LOCAL 4123

Brian Hnang

UMME 1146-120-14127 For the CSU:

Thomas Le

Systemwide Labor Relations Manager

Date: 2/30/18

Carl Fisher

Senior Director, Academic Personnel

Date: 9/30/18

oseph J. Jeling'c III

Senior Manager of Systemwide Labor Relations/Collective Bargaining Specialist

Date: 1/30/1

Side Letter

Within 30 days after ratification, and upon request of UAW, the parties agree to reopen Article 24 (Union Security) for the limited purpose of bargaining regarding additional voluntary paycheck deductions.

For the UAW:

Sandip Roy President

UAW Local 4123

Date: 09/30/2018 .

James Banks

UAW International Representative UAW Local 4123

Date:

For the CSU:

Thomas Le

Systemwide Labor Relations Manager

Senior Director, Academic Personnel

Date: 9-30-18

Joseph J. Jelincic III

Senior Manager of Systemwide Labor Relations/Collective Bargaining Specialist

Memorandum of Understanding

The California State University recognizes the unique position that academic student employees hold within the university as both students and employees. The CSU is committed to a healthy work environment that promotes mutual respect and positive working relationships.

The CSU Chancellor's Office representatives and UAW agree to meet once each semester through the 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 academic years to discuss ways to encourage a healthy work environment as it relates to Academic Student Employees in the CSU. The parties will agree upon the date, time, and location of the meeting.

To the extent the parties agree that additional meeting(s) during the 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 academic years are necessary, then the parties shall set a mutually agreed upon time, date, and location of the meeting(s).